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nary, and I quite agree with your Lordships that
there is one branch of the action with which the
Lord Ordinary has dealt largely which can give no
trouble. No case of partnership has been made
out here. The defender was not known to the pur-
suers till long after the transactions between them
and Munro were completed. Still it does not
follow that if Munro was only ostensibly put for-
ward and the defender was the real principal, hav-
ing the sole interest, that the defender is not
liable. He no doubt had an interest of a certain
kind in the proceeds of the business of the ¢‘ Lon-
don House;” he was to be remunerated for hig
services in interposing himself as a check on behalf
of Munro’s creditors, and further stipulations were
made in the agreement to secure him in the risk
he was running. Beyond that extent the defender
had nothing to do with the conduct of the drapery
shop. It was conceded that Munro could have
discharged the defender at any moment, ou reliev-
ing him from his obligations and paying him the
commisgion stipulated for., No partner could be
80 discharged, and this is perhaps a sufficient test
on the question of partnership. But we have fur-
ther to consider whether, failing a partnership,
a case of agent and principal has been here in-
structed. This is the second alternative proposi-
tion which the pursuer asks us to affirm. His
argument amounts to this, that Munro was a mere
man of straw, who was put forward only to deceive
the public. I cannot think that this was the case;
on the other hand Grant was really no more
than an agent. He was employed to liquidate and
discharge Munro’s liabilities, and in return it was
arranged he was fo receive a commission of 7%
per cent. upon the proceeds of the business from
Munro. Grant was a mere medium between
Munro and his creditors ; he acted in the capacity
of agent, and the present case therefore differs
from that of Edmonds v. Buskell and Jones, which
has been quoted as an authority for the pursuer,

Lorp Girrorp—Without any difficulty I have
arrived at the same conclusion with your Lord-
ships. The pursuers in entering into the transac-
tions for which they are now claiming against the
defender knew nobody but Munro, and they took
Munro's bills, three in number, in payment of the
goods. Further, on Munro’s sequestration they
ranked upon his estate for their claim. They
now maintain that it was Grant who was the
draper, and that it was to him that the goods were
really furnished. This argument is founded upon
two grounds. In the first place, it is said that
Grant was in law a partner of Munro’s and there-
fore liable, and this plea is a good one if made out
in point of fact. In this the pursuers have quite
failed, and without a shadow of doubt there was
no partnership. Whatever the nature of the min-
ute of agreement is, it is not a contract of co-
partnery. The defender is not under it to receive
any share of profits, nor is one of the elements
which belong to a partnership present here. The
second alternative on which the pursuers rest their
case is only a little more difficult. The question
whether Grant was the real person with whom the
pursuers dealt is one of faet; if the fact was so,
the legal result is undoubted. In my opinion, the
pursuers have failed to prove this branch of their
case also. The substance of the dealings and
negotiations which took place between Munro and
the defender must be looked at as a whole. It is

a fundamental principle of law of large application
that when we get to the reality we must then dis-
regard the form. This minute of agreement must
be looked at in the light of this maxim, and if so,
it is apparent that Grant was not here the real
contractor.

Their Lordships therefore adhered to the Lord
Ordinary’s interlocutor, with additional expenses.

Counsel for Pursuer—Balfour and Alison.
Agents—J. W. & J. Mackenzie, W.S.

Counsel for Defender—Dean of Faculty (Clark)
Q.C. and Mackintosh. Agents—Murray, Beith
& Murray, W.S.

Wednesday, July 14.

SECOND DIVISION.

AULD 0. SHAIRP,
(Ante, p. 171.)
Title to sue—Loss, Injury and Damage.

The patron of a professorial chair in a uni-
versity intimated to a certain person his inten-
tion of presenting him to the vacant chair. No
appointment, however, was made. The pre-
gent holder of the chair had been appointed
Principal and had resigned the chair, but on
learning the patron’s intentions he withdrew
his resignation and retained both offices, re-
presenting at the same time to the patron
how injurious the appointment he proposed
to make would be for the interests of the
university. The patron not having appointed
the person whom he had intended, but having
left the Principal also in occupation of the
chair, held (1) that there having only been
an expectation of an appointment, there could
be no title to sue in the person who was to
have received the chair, or in his represen-
tatives. (2) That in law there was no ab-
golute illegality in the retention by the Prin-
cipal of the chair also.

Slander — Privileged Communication — Malice —
Damages.

The Principal of a university having written
a letter to the patron of a professorial chair
to the effect that the appointment of a certain
gentleman to the Chair would be injurious to
the interests of the university; keld that the
communication must be deemed to have been
a privileged one, and that malice had not
been proved against the writer of it.

The circomstances of this case will be found
fully detailed ante, p. 177.

At advising—

Lorp JusTICE-CLERE—When this very interest-
ing aud very important case was before us on the
question of title, we repelled the plea of want of
title, in so far as it was pleaded as a bar to the
action, and to no other effect; and before further
answer we of consent allowed both parties a proof
of their respective averments., The question
which had mainly been argued in that former
discuesion was, how far the pursuer, as executrix
and representative of her deceased husband Dr
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Auld, had a title to maintain the claim of damages
which is the foundation of this action. We held
that the claim was not excluded in respect of the
personal nature of the action, although it is a
claim of damages founded on alleged slander, and
inferring compensation, not merely for loss of
reputation and wounded feeling, but also for sub-
stantial loss on account of the exclusion of Dr
Auld from the Professorship of Humanity in the
United Colleges of St Andrews, which is said to
have been the result of the slander founded on.
We have now the entire facts before us, and I
think on the whole that the course which was
adopted by the parties, and which we sanctioned,
of taking this as a proof before one of ourselves,
was the best course that could have been followed.
‘We have the facts very clearly before us; the proof
wag taken before me; and I have now to express
the opinion which I have formed upon these facts.
The proof, though it is voluminons—I do not say
too voluminous, — resolves into one or two very
simple and indeed undisputed facts. Dr Auld
was made the classical master in the Madras Col-
lege I think about 1849. In the year 1861 some
dissatisfaction appears to have arisen in St
Andrews in regard to the mode in which his duties
were discharged, or, at all events, in regard to the
classical department in the college; and the trus-
tees of the Madras College at that time came to
the resolution to dismiss him. That, however, was
not carried into effect, because some of the pro-
fessors, including Principal Shairp, who was then
Professor of Humanity in the United Colleges, and
some other townsmen or citizens of St Andrews,
interposed and signed a joint-remonstrance to the
trustees, pointing out the great hardship that dis-
missing Dr Auld would be to himself, and saying
many flattering and civil things in regard to his
competency as a teacher and as a scholar, This
attempt to dismiss Dr Auld was not renewed. In
1862 it appears from Mrs Auld's evidence that Dr
Auld became a candidate for the head-mastership
of the Ayr Academy, and in that year he obtained
a variety of certificates from & number of very com-
petent persons in regard to his qualifications, and,
among the rest, one from Priucipal Shairp. He
did not succeed in obtaining that appointment.
In 1866, when there was some expectation that
Principal Shairp, who was then Professor of
Humanity, would be removed to Glasgow, it appears
that Dr Auld printed, or reprinted, these certifi-
cates or testimonials which he had received in
1862, but apparently they were not used at that
time. In 1868 the Madras College was examined
by Mr Sellar and Dr Harvey, as sub-commissioners
under the Royal Education Commission which was
at that time sitting, and the report of Dr Harvey,
who specially examined the classical portion of the
Madras College, was unguestionably couched in
unfavourable terms, And this brings us up to the
point of the vacancy which gave rise to the whole
of these proceedings.  Principal Shairp was ap-
pointed to the office of Principal in 1869, and it
was taken for granted by everyone that that created
a vacancy in the chair of Humanity, and accord-
ingly Dr Auld, among other candidates, became a
candidate for the office, and sent to the patron, the
Duke of Portland, a printed copy of the testimonials
which he had received in 1862, and which he had
printed in 1866, as indeed these printed testimo-
nials themselves most distinctly bear.  Principal
Shairp coinmunicated with the Duke of Portland,

and undertook to teach the class to the end of the
then session, that is to say, the session ending in
1870 ;- and intimated that at that time it was his
intention to demit his office, The Duke of Port-
land resolved to appoint Dr Auld to the vacancy,
and at his special request that intention was pub-
licly intimated, and, on that intention becoming
known Principal Shairp wrote the letter which
contains the alleged slander in this case, dated on
the 17th of March 1870, in which he remonstrated
against the intention indicated by the patron, on
the ground that Dr Auld had notoriously failed in
the capacity of classical teacher in the Madras
Institution, and that his department had been re-
ported against by the Education Commission; and
he also stated that if Dr Auld had used the testi-
monials granted in 1862, these were granted for a
totally different purpose, and that Dr Auld had no
right to use them as he did. Now that is the
alleged slander. What followed upon that was
this—the Duke of Portland simply did nothing,
but Principal Shairp, with the concurrence and, he
says, with the advice of his colleagues, although he
had intimated his intention to demit the chair, re-
solved to hold it, and resolved to hold it for the
express purpose of preventing the patron from pre-
senting Dr Auld.  And hold it he did, and con-
tinued fo teach it either himself or to supply the
teaching for a period of nearly two years, until the
death of Dr Auld on the 11th of August 1871, and
then, and then only, did he resign the Professor-
ship.

Now, that, I think, is a sufficient summary of
the facts that have been proved in this case. Aund,
in the outset, it is quite plain that one material
part of the case, as originally stated, entirely fails.
It was alleged, and that was one main element in
the former argument, that the suit was not
merely for reparation for wounded feelings, or for
injury to character, but that the slander had
culminated in a most serious patrimonial loss, and
that the result of the slander was that Principal
Shairp was allowed to retain this Professorship to
Dr Auld’s injury, and that the patron was induced
not to insist on his presentation in consequence of
the representations that were made. That was an
important element in the case, but it turns out
that this was not the fact. The Duke of Portland
did not withhold his hand from appointing Dr
Auld in consequence of these representations.
He says exactly the reverse. He says in hLis
letters, and in those answers to questions, which
are held in this case—and very properly held—
to amount to his testimony, that he thought he
was in no way called upon to interfere in that
matter,—that as long as the Principal did not de-
mit his office he did not think that he was bound
to contest the question of whether there was or
was not a vacancy, and he did not intend to do so.
But he also stated in the most distinet terms that
the moment the office was vacant Dr Auld was
the person that he intended to appoint, and that
he would accordingly appoint him. And, there.-
fore, the slander, whatever it was, was not a slander
that led to any action or inaction on the part of
the patron, who simply held his hand because
Principal Shairp had uot resigned his office, and
he did not mean to contest, and did not think him-
self bound to contest, the question whether he was
bound to resign or not. Now, that clears a very
congiderable portion of the ground in this action ;
for the real damage supposed to be suffered in
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consequence of the defender’s representaticns
vanishes from the case entirely, and it becomes
one simply of slander, not accompanied or said to
be accompanied by any specific patrimonial loss.
As to the defender’s right to retain the Chair of
Humanity, it is perbaps not necessary that we
should express any decided opinion. But the
question has been raised very clearly and dis-
tinctly, and my impression certainly is that by
accepting the office of Principal Mr Shairp neces-
sarily vacated the Chair of Humanity. If the
patron had issued a presentation I cannot see
that Principal Shairp could by possibility have ex-
cluded the presentee. I do not think he could
have resisted his induction, and that all the more
that he had voluntarily undertaken to the patron
to demit his chair at the end of the then current
session. I say nothing as to what might be the
arrangements for temporary administration; and
I say nothing as to what the powers of the patron
might be,—either the patron of the office of Prin-
cipal or the patron of the Chair of Humanity.
These are matters that are not in question here,
because none of them occur. The arrangement
upon which Principal Shairp held the Chair of
Humanity was not an act of temporary adminis-
tration, and the patrons of the two chairs gave no
cousent whatever to the state of matters that ex-
isted at that time. The Crown did not iuterfere,
and the Duke of Portland did not interfere, but it
was left upon its own merits. The notion that in
order to exclude a particular candidate the Princi-
pal could continue to hold this Chair at his own
hand, and to violate the admitted usage of the
University from time immemorial, is one to which
I should not wish to be supposed to give any
sanction whatever, ‘It is plain that if it had not
been for the untimely death of Dr Auld this
question must have arisen, and I cannot see any
good ground upen which Principal Shairp could
have maintained his position. I have said this
much because the question was directly raised,
and I am unwilling to appear to sanction a course
which I think has no foundation in the proper
order of the University.
immaterial in this case, for Dr Auld had no vested
right in the appointment. He had nothing but
an indication from the patron of what he was to
do when the Chair should, in his opinion, become
vacant,—an intention which he might change at
any time, and which conferred no vested right
whatever on Dr Auld. This being so, the case
resolves itself into a simple action of damages
for defamation, brought by the executrix of the
person said to be defamed, and the damages
claimed consequently are not for special loss, but
for injured feelings and reparation only. T do not
say, if that had been the complexion of the action
at first, whether I should bave thought it clear
that the right to sue did descend to an executor,
for that was not the position in which the case
was originally presented. But assuming that it did,
the question now remains, whether the proof has
established the claim. There are two grounds on
which the alleged libel is said to be defamatory.
The first is the allegation it contains that Dr Auld
had notoriously failed as a teacher in the Madras
College, and secondly, that Dr Auld had impro-
perly used the testimonials which he had received
from the defender and the other professors in the
University in 1862. I do not go into the particu-
lar terms of the leiter, They are rather sharp, and

But whether it was so is .

certainly unfriendly to Dr Auld, but the substance
of the alleged slander rests on these two allega-
tions, that he had notoriousiy failed as a teacher

“in the Madras Institution and that he had made

an improper use of the testimonials. Now, I am
not prepared to say that if this communication is
not privileged it is not slanderous. I rather think
that in the absence of allegation and proof of the
truth of the matters stated by the defender it is
slanderous, and is a sufficient ground of action.
In reference to the first, viz., that Dr Auld had
notoriously failed as classical master in the Madras
College, I do not think that that has been proved,
and I do not think that it is alleged to be proved.
Dr Auld may not have been, and probably was
not, a very vigorous master, but there is a long
interval between that and notorious failure ; indeed,
there are many iunstances of teachers who turned
out in the end men of the greatest reputation
having their alternations of success and failure,
and popularity and unpopularity, and I do not
think, looking to the very respectable body of evi-
dence that was adduced of Dr Auld’s qualifications,
that the allegation that he had notoriously failed
was substantiated by proof, and, not being sub-
stantiated by proof, I think it was an imputation
for which the defender would have been liable un-
less it is privileged. Still less do I thiuk that
there was any ground whatever for the reflection
made on Dr Auld’s use of the testimonials; and I
entirely demur to the view that seems to have
beeu taken for the defender in this matter, 1t is
quite plain to me that the defender wrote very
Lastily aud without sufficient recollection of the
facts in regard to which he was writing. He had
confused in his mind between the testimonials or
remonstrance addressed by himself and the other
professors to the Trustees of the Madras College in
1861, and the testimonials which were given when
Dr Auld was or intended to be a candidate for the
mastership of the Ayr Academy in 1862. In re-
gard to these last testimonials, it is plain on the
face of them that they were not_given for any such
specific object as having weight with the 1'rustees
of the Madras College, which would have been ab-
surd in itself, because the Trustees of the Madras
College had already got the remonstrance of the
professors in their hands, and there is not the
smallest indication that Dr Auld intended ever to
use them for that purpose. I am perfectly satis-
fied that Dr Auld obtained them for the purpose of
his candidature in 1862, which he intended to in-
sist in ; and, if I were to surmise, I should say that
probably Dr Auld, finding his position uncomfort.
able in the Madras Institution, wished to have a
general attestation of his qualifications, in case
any place might become vacant to which he might
aspire, and that his friends, the professors, were
perfectly willing to aid and assist him in that
object. I cannot for one moment admit that there
is any usage or practice of trade by which a pro-
fessor is to attest the qualifications of a man, as
shown in his public actings aud teaching, for one
purpose, and, without any special agreement with
him complain when that attestation of a fact is
used for another purpose. Dr Auld’s scholarship,
knowledge, and powers of teaching, as exhibited
in the Madras College, were facts to which these
testimonials were addressed, and, if the testimonials
were true the fact could not possibly be altered by
his candidature for a professorship, and when such
general festimonials as these are giveif to a man,
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he is entitled to use them in every quarter and for
any purpose for which he thinks they may be re-
quired or are useful, No doubt there may be a
special bargain made with him that he shall only
use them for one purpose, but to tell the truth the
fact of such a bargain or reservation would not
very much commend itself to my mind.

But then the question arises—Was this com-
munication privileged? In other words—Is the
defender free from liability unless he be proved
to have acted maliciously, or is it emough that
he acted honestly and in good faith? I think
there was privilege. DPrivilege consists in the
right of a man to express his honest opinion on
a matter in regard to which he has a duty or a
right or an interest to speak, or to express that
opinion to any other who has a corresponding duty
or right or interest. Now this is the law even in
regard to matters of private concern. But a chair
in one of our Universities is a matter of public con-
cern, and a subject in which, indeed, any member
of the community is entitled to take an interest.
Much more has the Principal of the University a
substantial right to speak his mind to the patron
of the chair within his bounds when he knows or
believes that an appointment prejudicial to its in-
terests is likely to take place; and, in my opinion,
this being a matter of public concern, the principal,
or the person at the head of the institution, must
necessarily have—what I imagine persons with an
inferior duty or interest must also have,—a right to
expressanopinionin the proper quarter upon a matter
in which the credit of the University is go largelycon-
cerned. Idonotmean tosay thatIwould hold outany
very great encouragement to professors, or even to
the principal, to interfere in matters of patronage.
I cannot say that there was a duty in the stricter
gonse to interfere. My impression rather is, look-
ing to the nature of this controversy, that though
Dr Auld’s qualifications might not be of the highest,
they were not of that nature that necessarily or
imperatively called for a remonstrance of this de-

geription—but we have seen and known things of °

the same kind before. There was a very celebrated
occurrence some 30 years ago in regard to a chair
in the University of Oxford, which is fresh in the
recollection of some of us, where the whole of the
professors in the University of Oxford in a body
remonstrated with the Crown against an appoint-
ment which had been proposed; and we know very
well that the languags used on that occasion was
by no means measured, and that the length of
time during which the controversy lasted was
very considerable. Now, I do not intend to ex-
pross any opinion as to whether Principal Shairp
would have been better advised if he had remained
silent, but thinking that the interest of the uni-
versity was at stake, and feeling the imporiance of
the Chair of Humanity in regard to every Scotch
University, because it is the portal or gateway
through which thestudents enter—I cannot possibly
say that he was not within the general rule of law
which affixes a privilege to persons expressing their
honest mind upon occasions on which they have
an interest and a right to speak. Here he spoke
to the patron, who was the proper recipient of his
opinions.

I am therefore of opinion that this case is clearly
within the rule of privilege, and that malice must
be proved before the pursuer can succeed,

The question of malice is perhaps not without
gome little difficulty. 'What is said on the part of

the pursuer, and said with some strength and
plausibility, is that Principal Shairp in 1861 and
1862, when he did not expect, no doubt, to have
Dr Auld for a colleague, expressed himself in the
strongest terms in regard to Dr Auld’s qualifications
as a teacher, and notwithstanding that, he writes
to the Duke of Portland, when he feared that he may
have him as acolleague that he had notoriouslyfailed
in the very capacity to which his compliments had
previously been addressed, and it is said by the
pursuer that that is proof of malice. I think there
is plausibility in that statement, but having heard
the evidence, and having heard Principal Shairp’s
account of the matter, I have come to the clearcst
opinion that there was no personal feeling or ig-
noble motive on the part of Principal Shairp at all,
but that his honest belief when he wrote to the
Duke of Portland was that Dr Auld's appointment
would be injurious to the University, and there-
fore he is only liable to this observation, that he
made his enconiumes somewhat too broad in 1861
and 1862, probably from a feeling of good nature,
which sometimes prompts in that direction, but that
at all events whatever he had said in 186Ior 1862,
he was quite honest in stating as his opinion that
Dr Auld had notoriously failed in the Madras
College and that his appointment would be in-
jurious to the University. The difficulty in which
the defender is placed is obvious, but as I must
affirm as matter of fact that he did not write his
honest opinion in 1869 before I can affirm the
allegation of malice, I have no hesitation at all in
saying that I believe thoroughly in the honesty
of the statement made in the letter in question.
The second point in regard to the proof of malice
is aleo of some weight, and that is, that there was
a persistency on the part of Principal Shairp which
led him to do what I take to be an illegal act for
the purpose of excluding Dr Auld, viz., to retain
the professorship against the patron, without right,
for no other purpose whatever than to prevent the
appointment of the presentee, whose appointment
he feared. Now, if there had been malice—if there
had been the slightest ground to suspect that theye
was personal and not public motive at the bottom
of all this—I should think that a very dangerous
element indeed, as far as the Principal was con-
cerned ; but not finding any element of that kind,
the only result is that whatever it proves it does
not prove malice on the part of the Principal.
‘Whether he had or had not a right to retain the
Chair of Humanity does not derogate from the
honesty of his intervention, whatever may be said
of his discretion; and therefore, upon the whole
matter, I have been unable to come to any other
conclusion than that the pursuer must fail in her
action,

I cannot close without saying at the same time
that it is impossible not to feel a considerable
amount of sympathy both for the pursuer and for
her deceased husband; for the unfortunate man,
having been tantalised with the expectation of this
professorship, not merely failed to obtain it, but lost
at the same time the offico which, on the repre-
sentations of the Duke of Portland, he had been
induced to resign.

On the whole matter, I think we must pronounce
a decree of absolvitor to the defender.

. Lorp NEAVES—This is a case of interest and
importance both on general and on special grounds,
I cannot help feeling considerable sympathy for
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the pursuer of the action; for, left as she has
been a widow, and with this history before us,
her husband’s disappointment and her own disap-
pointment must have been very great, and looking
to her point of view of these matters, one can
easily see how strongly she must have felt. We
cannot expect her to adopt any views of her
husband’s inefficiency or want of right and title
to this chair. That is not to be expected from
her even if she were competent to form an opinion
upon it, which she probably is not. She must
know and remember him as an amiable and ex-
cellent man, who, after getting a promise of this
appointment was deprived of it partly by delay
and partly by other circumstances. But while
we entertain these feelings of sympathy for her,
we mnust also look at the other side of the case,
and I firmly believe that Principal Shairp was
actuated in what he did by a desire for the good
of the University of which he was a conspicuous
member as Principal. One sympathises also with
his feelings, even although they were expressed
with apparent keenness.

The pursuer’s pleas are two-fold. The first is,
that the defender having illegally retained pos-
gegsion of the Chair of Humanity, and wroungfully
prevented Dr Auld from being presented thereto,
and having thereby caused loss, injury, and
damage to the pursuer, ought to be decerned to
make reparation as concluded for. As to the
alleged illegal retention of the Chair by Principal
Shairp, I cannot find such a relation subsisting
between Dr Auld and Principal Shairp as to lead
me to suppose that a right of action can arise to
Dr Auld against Principal Shairp for what he may
have done. I am rather inclined, with your
Lordship, to look upon the holding of the two
offices as incompatible. Af the same time, they
may be retained temporarily for special purposes
and in special circumstances. It could scarcely
be said that Principal Shairp might not hold the
Chair of Humanity during the remainder of the
session following his appointment, or for the time
necessary to make ulterior arrangements; and
that shows that there is no vital incompatibility
between the two offices. The idea of any perma-
nent retention of both is out of the question, but
I am not satisfied that there was any intention to
retain them permanently. I do not see any
evidence of that, though there may have been a
retention until it should be seen what should be
the final outcome of this dispute. But whether
Principal Shairp was right or wrong—whether he
might be considered to have vacated the Chair or
not—I cannot see that that gives rise to any legal
ground of action at the instance of Dr Auld or his
representative. Dr Auld had no presentation to
the Chair. He had only a promise of the appoint-
ment when the Duke of Portland should consider
that the vacancy had taken place. The Duke of
Portland was willing to give him the Chair when
it was vacant, but he was not willing to enter

. into any litigation on the subject, or to eontest
the point. A fair enough illustration of this was
given during the argument with reference to a
landlord’s right to remove a tenant in the case of
his having promised a lease of the farm to another
tenant. I cannot say that that other tenant who
may have got that promise has any direct right of
action against the tenant in possession. He may
urge upon the proprietor by moral or legal con-
siderations to do all that is necessary to fulfil his

promise; but I do not think that he has any right
of action against the tenant in possession. As
little can I say that if the patron here chose
deliberately to remain neutral, which he did—for
that is the position which he expressly avowed
himself as occupying—a party in Dr Auld’s posi-
tion, having no presentation to the office, could
have any right of action against Principal Shairp
to vacate the Chair for his behoof, or to pay him
damages. If anything had happened to the Duke
of Portland—if he had died before Dr Auld—
What would Dr Auld’s position have been? His
promise would not have been binding upon the
Duke’s successor—it was not binding on himself
as a matter of law— but it would not have been
binding on his successor; and so Dr Auld had
just what might be called a spes successionis in the
matter, which gave him no direct right of action
against Principal Shairp.

The second plea is with reference fo the slander
and this turns on the letter addressed to the Duke
by Principal Shairp. I confese that I have great
difficulty in seeing any slander in that letter, It
undoubtedly speaks of the inferiority of Dr Auld’s
claim to become a professor, and it also complains
that he has used certain testimonials; but I
cannot say that I see anything libellous in that
letter. We must look at the whole eircumstances.
Dr Auld was an aspirant to a public situation.
He was not being assailed in an actual position
which he occupied, by some person who was de-
preciating him; but he was aspiring to a new
appointment, of a diferent kind from the one he
held, requiring different qualifications, and a
higher training. He was publicly aspiring to
that office, and he was in communication with the
patron on the subject. Now, I confess I have a
strong idea that wherever an appointment of a
public nature is contemplated, and in particular
one which, besides affecting the public at large,
affects a certain locality in a very strong way, the
aspirant to that position lays his character and
qualifications open to criticism by all who have a
natural and legitimate interest in the appointment.
éam not sure that I would call that privilege. I

o not think that it is of the nature of libel to
speak of an aspirant for an office of that kind as
not being qualified for the office. I think the
newspapers might have discussed the merits of all
the candidates, and said that they considered one
to be good and another to be inferior, with the most
perfect freedom, without being found fault with
any more than any literary critique of eny kind.
An appointment of that public kind is subjeet to
the observation of the public, and is, I think, a
legitimate subject of discussion; and I cannot help
thinking that it would be a very sad thing if it
were not 8o. A patron i a trustee for the benefit
of the public. The patronage is vested in his
person, buf it is vested under the responsibility
that he owes to the public. He is entitled to
expect—and no patron with right feeling will com-
plain that he receives—such light fairly stated by
anygcompoatent party on the subject—to assist him
in his choice, and to guide him to a right decision
on the one hand, or prevent him from making an
improper choice on the other. I see no libel in
anything of that kind. To say that a man,
although a good master in a burgh school and a
respectable and aimiable man,—for there is not a
word said against his morals,—but to say that
such a man is not a first-rate acholar or hLas not



616

The Scottish Law Reporter.

Auld v. Shairp,
July 14, 1875,

been successful in his class, when he is aspiring to
another position, and putting himself therefore
upon a scrutiny as it were, appears to me to bea
very dangerous proposition, and in that light
aloue I consider the action unfounded. But at
any rate it runs into the question of privilege
when once you come to consider the close connec-
tion between Principal Shairp and the office
which was to be filled up. Can we suppose that
2 man at the head of a2 University is not to take a
strong interest in the welfare of the body with
which he is connected, and with which his own
prosperity and happiness are so intimately bound
up. It is for the public interest that he should do
all he can consistently with justice in such a
matter, I cannot doubt that he had a privilege to
go to the patron and to represent, if he did it
honestly and without any evil purpose or sinister
view, the opinion that he entertained of the
candidates who were proposed. It is said he
ghould not have interfered because the patron had
gaid that he would make the appointment, but
that is fiot sufficient. The appointment was not
made. Tt was right that Principal Shairp should
let it be known what he thought on the subject,
and the opinion he stated was honestly entertained
by a great number of persons in the same position.
Tt was entertained by the other professors, except
1 think, by Professor Flint and by one gentieman
who is now no more, and who perhaps did not
hold a very high position at the time,—I mean Dr
M-Donald, whose appointment one knows about,
and who, if I remember right, was appointed to
the Chair of Civil History, but as he could not
teach Civil History he taught Nafural History
instead. If, then, there is privilege, it can only be
got rid of by proving malice, and the question is,
has that been proved? I cannot say that I sea
any proof of malice. The idea of personal
malignity has not been suggested, and if it were,
it is groundless upon the face of the case. There
may have been an anxiety, and perhaps an over-
anxiety, about the matter on the part of Principal
Shairp, but that will not make malice. It wasa
matter of great importance that Principal Shairp
should make known his opinion if he thought
that the appointment would be injurious to the
Univorsity, and that opinion was shared in by
Professor Campbell, who had a very deep interest
in the matter; and having stated that to the
patron, will the mere manner in which it is done
coustitute malice? I think not. It is said
that it arose from a desire to have an Oxford
man, and that that makes malice. I cannot
exactly see it in that light. 1 am not such
an exclusive admirer of Oxford as perhaps Princi-
pal Shairp is, though I recognise in the fullest
manner the benefit we have got from Oxford
scholars and from the connection which has sub-
sisted between Oxford and Scotland. But no one
who knows the history of English literature is
ignorant of the very good reasons which Principal
Shairp bas for looking back on Oxford as a most
excellent nursery for young men, and as connect-
ing it with some of the most distinguished body
of scholars that have been produced in this cen-
tury. This was a feeling which he naturally had,
and I cannot think that was malice, I cannot
put that construction on it. It was also said that
his former testimonials proved malice. His
former testimonials praved a little too much
facility, I think, in the other dircction ; but I do

not think they prove malice in this direction.
And the only thing said about the testimonials as
far a8 Dr Auld is concerned is that Principal
Shairp was of opinion that he (Dr Auld) had no
right to use them as applicable to a professorship,
for they had been given him as general testimonials.
That seems to have been his view; and I agree
with him thus far, that testimonials for a school-
master are not necessarily testimonials as to a man’s
fitness as a professor. On the whole matter, there
being no proof of malice, I think this was either a
communication to the patron which required no pri-
vilege at all, or e communication that was privileged
owing to the position of Principal Shairp. On
these grounds 1 come to the same conclusion with
your Lordship, that we must assoilzie the de-
fender.

I canuot conclude without making the observa-
tion that I hope some light has been thrown in
this question upon the subject of testimonials
which ought to produce serious thoughts in the
minds of those who give and those who sometimes
receive them. A testimonial ought to be strictly
true and not coloured. It very often is—probably
almost always is, I do not say that one should
write a testimonial as he would write history, for
there he must not be afraid of speaking of every-
thing that is bad as well as of everything that is
good. That would never do, and the testimonial
would not be used if that were done. But it ought
to be a strictly true testimonial, and, if we may
borrow from a heathen author in regard to truth,
we should not allow ourselves to be carried beyond
the truth on any subject—testimonials or anything
slse—

“ Though Phalaris with his brazen bull be nigh,
And loudly dietate to our lips a lie.”

These gentlemen would not have done or said
anything incorrect out of fear or compulsion. But
favour, friendship, compassion, are sometimes as
great seducers from the path of strict accuracy as
fear or force, and it is acknowledged that to some
extent the testimonials were modified by these
amiable influences. But though I think in this
case there was a little embellishment given to the
facts, I cannot visit that error in such a way as to
convict Principal Shairp of melice in this case, be-
cause he may have been a little too easily led to
further the views of Dr Auld on a former occasion.
I think he had countenance for all that was done.
There was some truth in what was said about Dr
Auld having failed. We see in Mr Grace’s evi-
dence an opinion to that effect. But the question
is not whether that is the truth, but whether it
was an opinion which Principal Shairp was en-
titled to entertain, and did honestly entertain :
and he tells us that even from the time that the
testimonials were given he had seen proofs of Dr
Auld’s teaching that did not influence him
favourably; and I cannot wonder that any one
connected with the University of St Andrews
should, in reference to the filling up of the Chair
of Humanity, fail to see what a very serious stigina
was cast on the Madras School teaching by the
report of the Sub.Commissioners on Education
becoming publicly known. I think that must have
been a very painful thing—the idea that a man of
whom that had been said (whatever explanation
might be given of it) was to become the professor
of so important a Chair in the University as that
of Humanity, On the whole, I see nothing that
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would lead me to deprive Principal Shairp of the
privilege that he possessed, or of his right to ten-
der to the patron his opinion, believing it to be an
honest opinion in the matter.

Lorp OBMIDALE—In this case, which raises
some questions of novelty and importance, I must
now assume—iny views on the point having been
at a former stage of the litigation overruled by a
majority of the QCourt—that the pursuer, as
executrix of the late Dr Auld, is entitled to sue,
as she does, the present action of damages for the
injuries caused by certain alleged libellous or
slanderous statements uttered by the defender of
and concerning her late husband, and also for the
defender’s alleged illegal conduct in retaining the
Chair of Humanity in the United College of St
Salvador and St Leonards at St Andrews, he being
at the same time Principal of that College.

The pursuer also concludes for damages arising
to herself ‘“as an individual,” but she does not in
the record explain how she was or could be indivi-
dually injured; and she has not by evidence or
argument attempted to support this branch of her
action, which may therefore be laid aside as not
requiring further notice.

The pursuer has endeavoured to support her
claim for damages as executrix on the grounds,
1st, that the defender libelled and slandered her
late husband Dr Auld; and 2nd, that he acted
illegally in retaining for some time the Chair of
Humanity, thereby preventing Dr Auld being in-
dueted into that Chair and enjoying the emolu-
ments thereof. These grounds of action substan-
tially relate to and arise out of the same matters.

The defender in December 1868, while he held
the office of Principal and the Chair of Humanity,
intimated to the College, and to the Duke of Port-
land, the patron of the Chair, his intention of
resigning the latter in May following. In conse-
quence of this intimation, Dr Auld, who was then
the master of the burgh school of St Andrews,
called the Madras College, applied to the Duke to
be appointed to the Chair about to be vacated by
the defender, and the Duke in March intimated by
letter to Dr Auld that he had determined to give
bim the appointment. The defender a few days
thereafter wrote to the Duke deprecating the ap-
pointment of Dr Auld to the Chair of Humanity
as not having the necessary qualifications; and
the defender also continued till after the death of
Dr Auld, in August 1871, to hold the Chair himself,
thereby, as the pursuer says, preventing her late
busband obtaining it.

Such is, briefly and in general terms, the state
of matters in relation to which the pursuer, after
the death of her late husband, who had himself
neither raised nor intimated any intention of
raising an action of damages against the defender,
insists in her present claim as her husband’s exe-
cutrix. Her claim requires for the sake of distinct-
ness to be considered, first, as arising from the
defender’s alleged libellous or slanderous state-
ments, and secondly, from his alleged illegal con-
duet in retaining as he did the Chair of Humanity
as well as the office of Principal.

In her record the pursuer is very vague and
general in her allegations—which are all contained
in the 8th article of her condescendence—touching
the alleged libellous and slanderous statements of
which she complains. She there explains as the
reason of this, that she did not know the exact

terms of the letters the defender had written, and
therefore that she could not specify more particu-
larly his libellous utterances—a somewhat strange
and unusual statement coming from the pursuer of
an action of damages. Ultimately, however, the
pursuer in the course of the proof recovered all the
defender’s letters. And it is in respect of the
statements in his letter to the Duke of Portland of
17th March 1869, that she has chiefly, if not ex-
clusively, maintained her claim for damages under
ber first ground of action. For although it is true
that in the 8th article of her condescendence she
also avers in general terms that besides libelling
her husband in letters to the Duke of Portland, the
defender slandered her husband in verbal state.
ments to all the professors of the United College,
and particularly to Professor Campbell, the profes-
sor of Greek in the University, during the months
of March, April, and May 1869, or about that time,”
the nature and terms of the slanderous statements
thus vaguely alluded to have never yet been ex-
plained, and she has made no attempt to support
them. Tt is obvious, indeed, from the proof, that
no case of that description has been established ;
and I did not understand her counsel at the dis-
cussion to say that it had. It isa different ques-
tion, which will be afterwards noticed in dealing
with the matter of privilege, whether the defen-
der’s communications to the professors, such as
they were, may not go some length to show quo
animo he wrote the letter of 17th March to the
Duke of Portland.

Now, there is no doubt that the defender in his
letter to the Duke of Portland of 17th March ex-
pressed himself in very decided terms as to the
failure of Dr Auld as classical master of Madras
School, and stated Lis opinion, for that and other
reasons, that Dr Auld was ineligible for the Chair
of Humanity, The defender also stated in that
letter, in reference to certain testimonials which Dr
Auld had some years previously obtained from
various persons, and from the defender himself
amongst others, *“ that they were never intended
to certify to his fitness for a professorial chair. and
that if Dr Auld has laid them befors your Grace
for this purpose I must be allowed to say that he
had no right to do 80.” The pursuer endeavoured
to make two points out of this, 1st, that it was
false and calumnious for the defender to say of Dy
Auld that he had failed as a teacher in the Madrag
School and that he was consequently unfit and
disqualified for the position of Professor of the
Humanity Chair in the United College ; and 2dly
that it was also false and calumuious for the de-
fender to say of Dr Auld that he had improperly
used testimonials given for one purpose in order to
accomplish another. I am not quite satisfied that
these propositions of the pursuer are maintainable
—looking merely at the terms of the letter of 17th
March—but as the alleged libellous statements
might be so inuendoed as to have enabled the
pursuer to get into a proof, and as a proof was
allowed and has been adduced, I cousider it un-
necessary, especially in the view I have taken of
the result of the proof, to scrutinize, apart from it,
very critically, the statements of which the pur:
suer complains, in order to determine whether
they are or are not libellous in themselves,

Assuming them to be libellous, or that by
inuendo they could be made to bear that character
I can entertain no doubt that in making them
the defender had the protection of privilege,
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According to ell the authorities, English as well
as Scotch, cited at the discussion, it a well
established principle that a communication made
bona fide upon any subject matter in which the
party making it has an interest, or in reference to
which he acted in the discharge of a duty—publie
or private, legal or moral—is privileged if made
to a person having a corresponding interest or
duty, although it contains criminatory matter,
which, without that privilege, might subJe'ct him
in damages. The plea of privilege was, in lan-
guage even more favourable for the party founding
on it, recognised and given effect to in the judg-
ment of the Judicial Committes of the Privy
Council in the recent cases of Hart v. Gumpach
(Law Reports, Privy Council Cases, vol. iv. p.
439); and Laughtin v. The Bishop of Sodor and
Man, Tb. p. 495. And to the same effect also is
the law stated in Brown’s Commentaries (p. 763),
and in Starkie on Libel (p. 267). In our own
Court, again, we have very good illustrations of
the principle in the cases of Milne v. Bauchope,
July 19, 1867 (5 Macph. 1114); and Macbride v.
Williams & Dalzell, Jan. 28, 1869 (7 Macgh. 427),
The former of these cases related to certain state-
ments which a party claiming to be in the position
of head master of an educational establishment
had made about a female teacher in that establish-
ment, but although the jury found that he d]‘d
not occupy the position on which he rested his
privilege, and therefore negatived that ground of
defence, the Court in disallowing a motion for a
new trial threw no doubt upon the principle itself
as applied to such a position as that of the head of
an educational establishment, On the contrary,
Lord Cowan, apparently with the concurrence of
the rest of the Court, expressly said, ‘“I desire to
state in explicit terms that I do not dispute the
privileged position of & person placed in the posi-
tion of governor, rector, or heaq master of an
educational or other institution, in his communi-
cations to the managers or directors of the institu-
tion, with relation to its management or its ip-
terests. These communications when madq in
bona fide within the scope of his proper functions
are certainly privileged.” And 8o in the other
case of Macbride v. Williams & Dalzell, the Prin-
cipal of a Veterinary College was held to be
privileged in making certain statements, in them-
selves of a criminatory nature, to the patrons of
the institution in relation io one of the profegsors.
That case, indeed, has in its leading features a
very striking resemblance to the present — the
only distinction between the two being one pointed
out by the pursuer at the discussion, viz., that
there the individual complained of held the ap-
pointment of Professor, and was in the actual
discharge of its duties, while here the statements
made by the defender were of and concerning a
candidate merely for the office of Professor. But
I am unable to see how this distinction can be
held to affect the matter of privilege, for all the
‘elements requisite to constitute privilege are to be
found in the present as clearly as they existed in
the case referred to.

But before remarking further on the position of
the defender in the circumstances of the present
case as a privileged one, it is necessary to notice
that besides the statements in his letter of 17th
March to the Duke of Portland in regard to Dr
Anld’s unfitness for the Professorship of Humanity,
the pursuer also complains of his statements in the

same letter regarding the testimonials, to tha
effect that they had been granted about seven
years before to assist Dr Auld for a different
object than to obtain a Professorship, and therefore
that “if he had laid them before your Grace for
this purpose, I must be allowed to say that he had
no right {o do so.” Surely the defender was
entitled to express that opinion whether it was a
correct one or not, without subjecting himself in
damages as for a false and ealumnious libel. The
defender did not say tbat Dr Auld laid the testi-
monials befors the Duke for a fraudulent or de-
ceitful purpose. And in anything he said he did
not impugn the motives of Dr Auld at all, but
merely questioned his right.

Supposing, however, that the defender’s state-
ments were held to be calumnious, I think that in
meking them, equally as in making his other
statements complained of, he must be taken as
having acted in a matter in which he had an
interest, and from a sense of duty, and is accord-
ingly protected by privilege. What the precise
rights and duties of the defender as Principal of
the United College are does not appear, and for
the present purpose need not, I think, be minutely
inquired into. It is enough that his position as
Prineipal vested him with an interest, and con-
ferred on him a duty to interfere to the extent he
did. According to the pursuer’s own statement in
the first article of her condescendence the defender
as Principal of the United College is < head of the
Society, and in that capacity fulfils the offices of
superintendence and jurisdiction which the ori-
ginal constitution of the colleges assign to him.”
It can scarcely be doubted, therefore, that the
defender had, in reference to the reputation and
prosperity of the college, of which in the pursuer’s
own words he was the head and exercised a super-
intendence over, a material and obvious interest to
gee that a suitable appointment of a professor,
and especially a Professor of Humanity, was made,
And if he had such an interest, it follows that,
interfering to the extent he did, he did no more
than discharge a duty which obviously lay on him.
Nor can it be doubted that the defender’s com-
munication was made to a party who, as patron of
the Humanity Chair, had a corresponding interest
and duty.

If I am right so far, the pursuer cannot prevail
unless she establishes that the defender acted
maliciously. But I have been unable to discover
from the proof any ground for imputing malice to
the defender. To me it appears manifest that he
entertained none, but that in making his com-
munication to the Duke of Portland he acted
solely from a sense of what he honestly believed
to be his duty towards the college of which he wag
the head, and whose interests were in some
measure in his keeping and under his superin-
tendence. One thing at least is clear, that in his
whole actings he had the approval, with a single
exception, of all the Professors of the United
College, who, indeed, participated in everything
he did. His communications to and with the
Professors, in place of showing that he was
actuated by any improper animus or feeling
towards Dr Auld, go far to prove the very reverse,

In regard, again, to the alleged illegal conduct
of the defender in retaining the Humanity Chair
after the date when he had intimated his inten-
tion of resigning it, the pursuer’s statements are
to be found in the 8d and 7th articles of her con-
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descendence, and require careful attention. In
the third the pursuer sets out & minute of the
College, which bears that the defender, ¢ while
he was ready to demit the Chair immediately if it
should seem desirable, was willing fo teach the
Humanity classes until the end of the session, and
that at that date or on the 15th of May to resign
the Chair;” and then the pursuer further goes on
to say that * notwithstanding the legal disability
of the Principal of the said United College to hold
a Professorship in conjunction with his office of
Principal, and notwithstanding his actnal resigna-
tion of the Professorship of Humanity to take
effect on the 15th of May 1869, as embodied in
the foresaid minute, the defender on the expira-
tion of the time during which it was agreed that
he should continue to perform the duties of the
Professorship, refused to demit the same and
continued to exercise the office of Professor, and
to receive the endowments pertaining to the office
until after the death of the said James Auld,
which took place on 11th August 1871.” In
making the statement the pursuer proceeds on the
assumption that the defender had by the minute
referred to actually resigned the Professorship, but
I can scarcely think she is right in this, for by the
minute the defender bad merely intimated an
intention to resign it at a future date; and in
point of fact he had not prior to the death -of Dr
Auld actually resigned. The pursuer again, in the
. 'Tth article of her condescendence, assumes the legal
¢t disability ” of the defender to hold a Professor-
ship in conjunction with his office of Principal, but
she has not succeeded in showing that there was
any such disability. Iudeed, beyond some specu-
lative observations and suggestions made at the
discussion, nothing has been advanced by way of
evidence or otherwise fo instruct this, while it is
well known that the Principal of St Mary’s College
at St Andrews has long held and now holds a
Professorial Chair along with his office of Principal.

Irrespective, however, of such considerations,
and whatever may be thought of the defender’s
conduct in retaining as he did the Humanity
Chair, it is sufficient to remark that the pursuer
has entirely failed to show that any right of
action could have thence arisen to Dr Auld or to
her as his executrix. Dr Auld was not the patron
of the Chair, nor had he actually obtained any
legal or enforceable right to it. Neither had the
defender come under any obligation or promise to
Dr Auld to resign the Humanity Chair, In short,
there neither was, nor is it said that there was
any, privity of contract whatever between the de-
fender and Dr Auld in the matter. Whether the
Duke of Portland, as patron of the Chair, or the
Crown, might have challenged the defender’s
retention of the Humanity Chair is another thing
altogether, which it is unnecessary to ingnire into,
for it is not pretended that Dr Auld had come
into the right and place of either the patron or
the Crown, by assignation or otherwise. I am
therefore quite unable to understand upon what
principle the pursuer as executrix of Dr Aunld has
any right or title to insist in the present action,
so far as it is laid upon the assumed disability of
the defender to retain for some time, as he did,
the Humanity Chair in conjunction with his office
of Principal,

The result is, that for the reasons I have now
stated I am of opinion that the pursuer has failed
to support her action on any of the grounds

libelled, and that the defender is entitled to
absolvitor.

Loxrp Girrorp—This case is now before us as a
concluded cause upon the proof which has been
led, and on the whole pleas of parties, which have
been very fully and ably argued. The case in-
volves several distinet questions, all of which are
attended with nicety and difficulty, but on all of
these questions, so far as necessary for the decision
of the present case, I have formed a clear opinion
in favour of the defender, Principal Shairp,

The case divides itself into two great branches,

1. The first question is, Whether Principal
Shairp is liable in damages to the pursuer, Mrs
Auld, for having, as the pursuer alleges, slandered
the pursuer’s husband, the late Dr Auld. The
alleged slander is said to be contained in Principal
Shairp’s letter to the Duke of Portland, dated 17th
March 1869. The pursuer also complains of
Principal Shairp’s letter to the Duke of Portland
of 12th May 1869, but this last letter merely re-
peats part of the previous one, and substantially
the statements complained of are those contained
in the letter of 17th March 1869. The pursuer
maintains that the statements in this letter relative
to the late Dr Auld are false and calumnious, and
operated to his loss, injury, and damage.

The alleged slander complained of consists of
two particulars which may be shortly stated thus:
—(1) A statement that Dr Auld was unfit to dis-
charge the duties of Professor of Humanity in the
United College, St. Andrews, and that he had
notoriously failed to discharge efficiently the duties
of classical master in the Madras Cullege; and (2)
that Dr Auld had made an improper use of testi-
monials which had been given him some years
previously by the defender, and by some other
Professors of St Andrews University.

T'he main defence relied upon by the defender
in this branch of the cage is that the defender in
making the statements complained of was in a
position of privilege, as Principal of the United
Colleges of St Andrews, and that having made the
statements in bona fide, and in the honest discharge
of his duty, he is not liable in damages therefor.
Although not on record, the plea of veritas was also
suggested at the debate, and it seemed to be main-
tained that the statements in the letter of 17th
March being in all respects true, there could be no
damages awarded in respect therefor,

If the case had depended upon the plea of veritas
I would not feel myself in a position to sustain it.
I do not think that upon the closed proof mow be-
fore us there is sufficient evidence to enable me to
affirm, in point of fact, that the late Dr Auld was
unfit to be Professor of Humanity in St Andrews
University, or that he had notoriously failed as
Classical Master in the Madras Institution, and
still less would I be prepared to find, in point of
fact, that Dr Auld had made an unfair or unjusti-
fiable use of the old testimonials which he had
received from the St Andrews Professors. The ques-
tion of Dr Auld’s fitness for the Professorship, and
the question whether he had been successful in the
Madras Institution, are to a Jarge extent matters of
opinion, as to which different persons might very
fairly take different views. It is apparent that
different views on these questions were held, and
quite honesily held, by different parties as well as
by different sections of the public of St Andrews
iuterested in its educational prosperity, but I find
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no sufficient evidence to enable me to say with any
confidence which of the conflicting opinions was
the right one, and accordingly I could not sustain
the techinical plea of veritas convicit. .

But I think the main defence upon which
Principal Shairp relies in this branch of the case
is well founded. I think Principal Shairp was in
a privileged position, entitling him honestly to ex-
press to the ‘patron of the Humanity Chair his
opinion as to the fitness or suitability of any of the
candidates for that Chair. Prineipal Shairp ad-
mittedly held the office of Principal of the United
Colleges. Whatever be his special duties as Prin-
cipal, I cannot donbt that they include the general
supervigion of his branch of the University, and
impose upon him the duty of doing what is in his
power to secure its efficiency. Nothing can more
closely touch the efficiency and prosperity of the
University than the appointment of its Professors,
and although the duty may be a most difficult and
delicate one, requiring the greatest prudence and
caution in its discharge, I cannot say that it is not
fairly within the duty of the Principal to remon-
ptrate in proper and fitting terms, and to the proper
persons, against an appointment which he honestly
thinks would be injurious or ruinous to the interests
of the University. To this extent I am of opinion
that Principal Shairp was in a privileged position,
and this seems to me to be sufficient for the deter.
mination of this branch of the case.

To a certain extent every one who openly and
avowedly becomes a candidate for a position like
a public chair in a public University exposes himself
to and invites fair and honest criticism, and if that
criticism proceeds from proper gnarters and does
not exceed fair and reasonable limits, I think the
candidate cannot complain although the criticism
ghould be adverse or even severe, but it is not ne-
cessary in this case to consider any such general
question of privilege, for surely if any person was
privileged or called upon honestly to criticise or
comment upon Dr Auld’s claims, it was the Prin-
cipal of the University in which Dr Auld was
goeking a Chair. I say nothing of the delicacy of
the Principal’s position, or whether the case wassuch
as to make his interference an absolute duty. Of
this the Principal must I think be himself the
judge, but this I do say, that if the Principal hon-
estly believed that the proposed appointment
would be hurtful or ruinous to the University,
then it was his duty to remonstrate, and he will be
protected by his privilege in an action for slander.
I do not think it necessary to find how far this
privilege extends. I incline to think it would
extend to the othier Professors and Members of the
Senatug, all of whom have a very direct interest,
and some of whom have a serious pecuniary
interest, in the appointment of their colleagues,
1t is enough to say that this interest, this duty,
and this privilege resides in the Principal.

Now if this be so, it follows that the Principal
must be protected in an action for slander unless
it can be established that he acted maliciously
and in mala fide,—not in the honest discharge of
what he believed to be his duty, but under the
influence of personal and unjustifiable motives,
and with an intention not to benefit the University
but to injure the late Dr Auld. I think malice in
cases like the present has this wide meaning, that
it includes every motive except the honest and
pure wish fairly and sincerely to discharge a duty.

Now the existence or absence of malice is

always a question for the Jury, and the Jury are
entitled to take into consideration the whole cir-
cumstances of the case, and the whole actings of
the defender, and to infer therefrom whether his
conduet has not been such as to infer the presence
of other than pure and upright motives. On this
point I am of opinion, a8 & juryman, that malice
has not been established,—on the contrary, T think
it sufficiently appears that Principal Shairp in
what he did was actuated only by an honest desire
to secure the welfare of the University and to
avert what he hounestly believed would be an injury
or a misfortune. I do not judge of his actings
according to canons of mere taste, but I think that.
his whole conduct shews an earnest and sincere
belief that what he did was necessary for the
University over which he presides. I abstain from
entering upon detail. He was a personal friend
of the late Dr Auld. He seems to have gone to
him privately to induce him to withdraw his candi-
dature. Ie addressed his remonstrances to the
proper quarter, the Duke of Portland, and privately,
without seeking to give needless publicity thereto.
His opinions were shared by the great majority of
the Senatus, the action of some of whom was even
stronger than his own. I think his remonstrance
was timeous, for although the patron had intimated
his intention to appoint Dr Auld, no appointment
haad been issued, and it was undoubtedly in the
patron’s power if he found sufficient reason to with-
hold the appointment and give it to another. If
the appointment had been actually issued it might
have been otherwise, for it would have been a
strong proof of mere malice to express an opinion
when it was too late and when there was no end to be
gorved thereby. 'T'he pursuer founded strongly on
the fact that the defender retained the Humanity
Cheair after having intimated resignation, and
this as a proof of malice, apart altogether from her
separate plea that such retention was illegal and
wrongous. I do not think that this argument haa
much weight. Itis proved that the defender re-
tained the Chair at the express request of the
Senatus with only two or three dissentient voices.
He did so after communication with the patron,
who left him at eutire liberty to act as he thought
right and apart from all questions of illegality,
I an disposed to think that the defender’s con-
tinuing to hold the Chair of Humanity in compli-
ance with the earnest wish of the great majority
of the Professors, and in circumstances open to
nisconstruction, is rather a proof of the Principal’s
strong and bona fide belief in the extreme inexpedi-
ency of the proposed appointment of Dr Auld, I
cannot for a moment listen to the suggestion that
the defender was actuated by unworthy or mercen-
ary motiver regarding the fees or emoluments
connected with the Chair.

It was further urged for the pursuer that the
defender’s malice was proved by his having
misrepresented to the patron the nature of the
testimonials which he and the other Professors had
granted to Dr Auld in 1860 and 1862. It is true
that some of these testimonials appear to have been
given not merely to enable Dr Auld to retain his
situation in the Madras College, but with a view
to his candidature for the Ayr Academy or other
appointment. Principal Shairp seems to have
overlooked this, and to have represented that they
were merely given to save him from the threatened
dismissal from the Madras College. But the real
substance of the statement was that the testi-
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monials were not intended to certify Dr Auld’s fit-
ness for a Professorial Chair, and this is un-
doubtedly true; and it appears to me that the
mere inaccuracy in detail as to what had happened
8ix years previously is no sufficient proof of the
"defender’s malice, and not even an indication of
the absence of bona fides.

On the issue of slander, therefore, in respect of
the defender’s privileged position, and that he
acted in dona fide and without malice, I feel myself
bound to find for the defender. I might add, in
reference to the alleged damages resulting directly
from the slander, that there is no proof of any
direct damage. It is in evidence that Principal
Shairp’s letter had no effect on the mind of the
Duke of Portland, to whom it was addressed. It
did not alter the Duke’s intention. The Duke
himself expressly says so. He adliered to the last
to his intention to appoint Dr Auld the moment
the office should become vacant, and whether the
defender acted illegally or not in retaining the
office (which is a different question), it seems clear
enough that the alleged slanderous letter had no
effect per se in keeping Dr Auld out of the Professor-
ship, and this brings me to the second branch of
the case.

2. The second ground of action on which the
pursuer relies is that the defender acted illegally,
and to Dr Auld’s loss, injury, and damage, in re-
taining the Humanity Chair after having intimated
his intention to resign it as at 15th May 1869.
This branch of the action involves several distinet
and difficult questions, apart altogether from its
bearing on the question of malice, to which I have
already adverted.

In the first place, I am of opinion that neither
the late Dr Auld up to the time of his death, nor
the pursuer, as his widow and executrix, ever had
any title to challenge the illegality of Principal
Shairp’s retention of the Humanity Chair, or to
claim damages therefor.

The late Dr Auld never was appointed Professor
of Humanity. The presentation was never issued
or delivered. All that Dr Auld had or could have
was an intimation of the patron’s intention to ap-
point him to the Chair, an intention which, while
it never varied and was never altered on the part
of the patron, was yet never carried into effect.
Dr Auld, so far as that Chair was concerned, was
never more than one of the general publie, with
expectations certainly, but with no more rights
than any citizen of the country. A hoped for or
expected appointment will not give a title to sue.
Suppose, then, that Principal Shairp had never
written to the Duke of Portland at all, and had
never been in communication either with the patron
or his agents, would this actien have lain—would
the present branch of it have been competent either
at the instance of Dr Auld or of his widow? I
think not, The abstract legality or illegality of
Principal Shairp’s conduet might have been raised
by the patron, by the Crown, by the Senatus or its
members, and perhaps by any member of the
University, or by others, but mot by any mere
member of the ecommunity, and not by Dr Auld
unless he had actually obtained a presentation,
and certainly without such presentation Dr Auld,
even supposing that he could bave tried the ques-
tion, could never have claimed damages.

But, in thesecond place, I am notprepared toaffirm
in point of law the absolute illegality in Principal
Shairp continuing after his induction as Principal

to hold the Chuir of Humanity. It is plain that in
certain circumstances he might do so after becom-
ing Principal. For example, in this very case,
when appointed Principal in the middle of a ses-
gion, it was hardly disputed that he might fairly
and rightly continue Professor of Humanity till the
close of the Session. Any other course would have
been unfair to the University, and unjust to the
students of the class.

In like manner, it might often happen that eir-
cumstances might render expedient even a more
prolonged tenure of the Chair by a Principal or by
an occupant who had been promoted to the Prin-
cipalship, Itis rather a question of expediency
than of absolute illegality, and if all interested
concur or acquiesce in a temporary union of the
two offices I see no absolute illegality which would
prevent such temporary arrangement. In this case
there was, if not a virtual acquiescence and con-
currence, at least an absence of any challenge on
the part of all concerned, that is, neither the
Crown, nor the patron, nor the Senatus, nor the
University Court, nor any other party interested,
intervened or complained of the illegality of the
course taken.

On the general abstract question whether a
Principal holding that office for life might not also
hold for life the Chair of Humanity, I would rather
decline giving any opinion. Such unions are not
unknown in other Universities, although in general
I should think they are not expedient. Something
might depend on the terms of each appeintment,
and on the concurrence of the Crown, the patrons,
and the authorities of the University. It is suffi-
cient for the present case—if, indeed, it is even
necessary to go so far—to find that there was no
absolute illegality in the unchallenged arrange-
ment of a temporary aud precarious character
which took place in the present case.

On the second branch of the case, also, I think
the defender is entitled to absolvitor.

Counsel for Principal Shairp—Dean of Faculty
(Clark) Q.C. and Lancaster. Agents-— Tods,
Murray & Jamieson, W.S.

Counsel for Mrs Auld—=Solicitor-General (Wat.
son) and Smith. Agent—Thomas Spalding, W.S.
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FIRST DIVISION.

A. v B.
Process—Seduction— Damages—Dilig
defender’s books.

A. raised an action of damages for seduction
against B., and in the course thereof moved
for a diligence to recover (1) the books of
the defender; (2) The books of a railway
company to which B. acted in the capacity of
a carrier, the object being to show the amount
of his income—held that in an action of
damages for seduction such a diligence could
not be competently granted, and motion-refused.

to recover



